
 
AGENDA 

PLANNING AND ZONING MEETING 
Norwalk City Hall, 705 North Ave 

Monday, July 24, 2017 
                                         5:45 P.M. 

 
 

1. Call meeting to order at 5:45 P.M. 
   

2. Approval of Agenda 
 

3. Approval of Minutes – July 10, 2017 
  

4. Chairperson – Welcome of Guests 
  

5. Public Comment – 3-minute limit for items not on the agenda (No action taken) 
 

6. New Business  
 

a. Review of Pre-Annexation Agreement with Bedwell Gardens 
b. Request from Windsor Windows & Doors to approve the Final Plat for Windsor 

Windows Plat 1 
c. Request from Windsor Windows & Doors to approve the Site Plan for Windsor 

Windows at 901 Sunset Drive 
d. Request from K&R Wholesale to approve a grading plan for the K&R Wholesale 

Site on Colonial Parkway 
 

7. City Council Update – Stephanie Riva, Planning and Zoning Commission Liaison 
  

8. Economic Development Update – Hollie Askey, Economic Development Director 
 

9. Future Business Items 
 

a. Stark Property 
b. Platting & Site Plan for Certified Industrial Site 
c. Sunset Crest Platting & Site Plans 
d. Sunset Corner Site Plan 
e. North Shore Preliminary Plat 
f. Warrior Run Plat 2 Final Plat 
g. Rolling Green Plat 6 Final Plat 
h. Farms of Holland Plat 3 Final Plat 
i. Affordable Housing Research 

 
10. Next Meeting Date: August 7, 2017 

 
11. Adjournment 

 

 



REGULAR NORWALK PLANNING AND ZONING MEETING 07-10-2017 
 

Call to order 
The regular meeting of the Norwalk Planning and Zoning Commission was held at the Norwalk City 
Hall, 705 North Avenue, Monday, July 10, 2017.  The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by 
Chairperson Judy McConnell.  Those present at roll call were Barbara Belizzi, Donna Grant, John 
Fraser, Jim Huse and Judy McConnell. Absent: Elizabeth Thompson and Brandon Foldes.  
 
Staff present included:  Luke Parris, Community Development Director, Hollie Askey, Economic 
Development Director, and Hillarie Ramthun, Community Development Coordinator. 
 
Approval of Agenda – 17-58 
Motion by Fraser and seconded by Belizzi to approve the agenda.  Approved 5-0.  
 
Approval of Minutes – 17-59 
Motion by Belizzi and seconded by Fraser to approve the minutes from the June 26th, 2017 meeting 
with the requested amendment.  Approved 5-0. 
 
Chairperson McConnell welcomed the 2 guests present.  With no one wishing to discuss matters not 
on the agenda, the business portion of the meeting was opened.    
 
New Business 
 
Request from Michael and Tracy Carper to approve a Plat of Survey for Parcel “G”—17-60 
Currently, Michael and Tracy Carper own 38.9 acres of land outside of the City limits north of 
Dakota Street.  Since the property is within two miles of the City limits, the Carpers are required to 
go through the City approval process to ensure that the plan will coincide with the Future Land Use 
Plan. The Carpers are proposing a split of 2.38 acres from the 38.9 acres to create Parcel “G”.  
 
Tracy Carper, 4691 Dakota Street Norwalk, IA approached the dais to speak.  Carper explained 
that the reason for the division is to separate the residence and vineyard from the production area.  
The four year old vines are ready for wine production and therefore, the Carpers are in the process 
of constructing a building and would like to separate the parcel to have a winery LLC.  The 
winery/building would be located on the 2.38 acres with the remaining larger parcel of land left to 
Agricultural.   
McConnell asked about the location and the road and access onto the property. 
Belizzi inquired about other type of events that might take place on the property. 
Carper stated that it is a potential in the future. At this point the only plan is to get the wine 
production up and running this fall.     
A motion was made by Belizzi and seconded by Fraser.  Approved 5-0. 
 
Discussion regarding the August 14th Planning and Zoning meeting to be moved to August 7th 
A request was made by Luke Parris to move the August 14th meeting up by one week due to the 
fact that he will be out of town the week of the normally scheduled Planning and Zoning meeting.  
No action necessary.  
  
Future Business Items-  
Stark Property 
Platting and site plan for Certified Industrial Site 
Sunset Crest Platting & Site Plans 
Sunset Corner Site Plan 
North Shore Preliminary Plat 
Warrior Run Plat 2 Final Plat 



Rolling Green Plat 6 Final Plat 
Farms of Holland Plat 3 Final Plat 
Affordable Housing Research 
City Council Update-  
Stephanie Riva, Planning and Zoning Commission Liaison, explained the two items that applied to 
the Planning and Zoning portion of the most recent City Council meeting.  
O’Leary’s Funeral Home has requested a vacation of Right of Way for the piece of property 
between O’Leary’s and City State Bank and Ace Hardware.  The outcome was that easements in 
that area is researched and that if vacated the property would need to be divided equally and 
not only going to one property owner.   
Parkland dedication agreement for Blooming Heights was updated to allow parkland to be 
dedicated in the second phase of the development and language was added to say that the City 
has two options The City can ask for money in exchange for parkland or to make a contribution to 
the park fund in lieu of dedication in place of providing parkland.  A contribution can be different 
from a monetary contribution; it could be a donation of some sort of service to the City by the 
developer.   
Grant inquired again about Cort landing and Kelly Cortum’s dedication of excavating and if it 
could go towards a sidewalk by McAninch Park.  
Parris explained that the cost would exceed the amount that Cortum is required to dedicate.  
McConnell pointed out that there is now fresh eyes on the park planning and a new understanding 
of all that is needed to maintain or build City parks.   
The final discussion from Council was in regards to the Stark Property and there was no agreement 
on what to do with the rezoning to the Comprehensive Land Use Plan.  Since it is listed on the Future 
Business Items, it will be addressed again.   The Council would like to open it up to public comment 
again.         
 
Economic Development Update-  
State of the City Address will be held on July 20th 
SunsetCrest development has closed on a few of the properties; fence will be going up soon & 
demolition to begin at the end of July. 
Sunset Corner, Council approved development so that will start soon 
The Home Show will start on July 15th and continue each weekend through July 
Elizabeth Holland Park Dedication will happen on July 26th at 4:30 p.m. 
Beautification of the downtown area was a success, many helpers volunteered 
Windsor Windows had their groundbreaking ceremony and Chambers was packed due to an 
amazing turn out of people and a little stormy weather  
Rowat Granite and Concrete moving into Norwalk soon  
Peoples Company have posted signs in SubArea 1 
Norwalk has been featured in the news more than 10 times over the past month 
 
Next meeting Date – July 24, 2017. 
 
Adjournment – 17-61 
Motion by Huse and seconded by Belizzi to adjourn the meeting at 7:42 p.m.  Approved 5 -0. 
 
 
 
___________________________________  ________________________________________ 
Judy McConnell, Vice Chairperson Luke Parris, City Planner 



Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 

 
 

BUSINESS OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 For Meeting of 8-3-17 
   

ITEM TITLE: Consideration of a Pre-Annexation Agreement with Bedwell Gardens 
CONTACT PERSON: Luke Nelson 

   
SUMMARY EXPLANATION & HISTORY:  
The City was approached to consider the annexation of almost 80-
acres of land surrounding the Bedwell property.  State law 
prevents the creation of an island when an annexation occurs.  
The State also provides for a City to annex land that is 20% or less 
of the area being voluntarily annexed.  While not required for 
annexation, City staff has worked with Bedwell to establish a draft 
voluntary pre-annexation agreement for consideration by Council.  
The City Attorney has reviewed the agreement and has provided a 
redline version of the agreement (attached). 
 
FUNDING:  
There is no cost for this annexation beyond recording fees.  
However, there is a delay of tax revenues as part of the allowed 
graduated abatement.  A ten-year graduated abatement of taxes 
is common when pursuing annexation.  Bedwell’s current annual 
County property tax is approximately $3,600.  According to the 
current City levy their property taxes would be $4,800.  The 
transition to the City levy will last over 10 years.  The amount of 
tax abated over the ten-year transition is $5,300 in total. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:  

1. Approve the attached resolution authorizing signature of 
the Pre-Annexation Agreement (with modifications as 
determined by Council). 

2. Deny the pre-annexation Agreement and proceed with the annexation. 
3. Ask Staff to conduct further research. 
4. Take no action at this time. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:   
It is recognized that Bedwell Gardens is an important part of Norwalk.  The terms within the draft agreement 
are requests by Bedwells.  The redlines are suggestions by the City Attorney and based upon legal opinions.  
The terms of the agreement are comparable to other voluntary annexation agreements approved by the City.  
Staff recommends Alternative 1. 

Annexation 
Request 

Bedwell 
Gardens 

Public Works – 
Bus Barn 

lparris
Text Box
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSIONAGENDA STATEMENT

lparris
Text Box
7-24-2017

lparris
Text Box
& Luke Parris



Page 1 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

 
PRE-ANNEXATION AGREEMENT 

 
This Pre-Annexation Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Norwalk, 

Iowa, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “City”) and Gayln W Bedwell and 
Diana J Bedwell, husband and wife, Galen W. Bedwell, as trustee of the Galyn W. Bedwell Trust 
and Diana J. Bedwell, as Trustee of the Diana J. Bedwell Trust(hereinafter, collectively referred 
to as “Owners”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, Owners are the collective owners of record of that real property described in 
the attached Exhibit “A” (hereinafter referred to as the “Subject Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is presently located entirely within Warren County, 
Iowa, and outside the corporate limits of any other city; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property adjoins the existing City boundaries; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the owners desire to have the City annex the property into the Norwalk City 
limits; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to annex the subject property. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of their mutual promise contained herein, and other good 
and valuable consideration, it is understood and agreed between the parties as follows: 
 

1. Consent.  The Owners, residents of the property and owners of a nursery and 
greenhouses located at the property; consent to have the subject property annexed 
into the City limits. 

 
2. Transitional Taxes.  The annexation application will provide for transition for 

the imposition of city property taxes in accordance to the maximum percentages 
allowed by Iowa Code Sections 368.7(5) and 368.11(3)(m). 

 
3. Zoning.  Upon annexation, the Subject Properties will be zoned as, A-R, 

Agriculture Reserve, pursuant to Section 17.10.020, Norwalk Zoning Ordinance. 
It is the intent of parties to this Agreement that the A-R zoning classification will 
allow for the continuation of all current uses being utilized on the respective 
propertiesproperty, including retail nursery/ garden/ landscaping sales on premise, 
by Owners until such time as each respectivethe property is rezoned in the future. 
 
If a parcel from, or a portion of, the Subject Property is rezoned in the future at 
the request of an Owner of a specific parcel of property, then, upon such rezoning, 
the parcel or specific property rezoned shall conform with the permitted uses 
provided for in the new zoning district. 



Page 2 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

 
If, however, any of the Subject Property is rezoned as a result of the initiation by 
the City, all uses occurring on each portion of the Subject Property rezoned shall 
be presumptively deemed to be a legal nonconforming use under the provisions of 
applicable Iowa law. Attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein for the 
Subject Property is a description of the current use of the property. The purpose of 
such description is to memorialize the uses that will be permitted in the new A-R 
zoning classification for the Subject Properties and that will be deemed legal 
nonconforming uses in the event of a rezoning of any parcel of the Subject 
Properties. 
 
It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that the Annexation of the Subject 
Property or any subsequent rezoning by the City will not prevent the continued 
use of the property as outlined in the attached description contained in Exhibit C.  

 
In addition, it is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that the Annexation of 
the Subject Property or any subsequent rezoning by the City will not prevent the 
expansion, enlargement or reconstruction of any structures necessary to continue 
the uses identified in Exhibit C that are currently constructed and in use on all 
property covered by this agreement.  Such structures necessary to continue the 
uses identified in Exhibit C shall not be classified as non-conforming structures 
under Norwalk City Ordinance 17.04.140 and 17.04.150.  There will be an 
irrefutable presumption that any structure provided for under this Agreement that 
is damaged can be reconstructed. 

 
4. Services. The City will provide the following services upon completion of 

annexation: 
 
A. Weekly residential solid waste pickup (property owner does not want this 

service); 
B. Weekly residential recycling pickup (property owner does not want this 

service); 
C. Weekly residential Compost-it pickup (available spring through fall) – 

(property owner does not want this service); 
D. Norwalk City Police coverage; 
E. Norwalk City Fire and Rescue coverage; 
F. Use of Parks and Recreation programs at city resident rates; 
G. City road maintenance; and 
H. City snow removal from city roadways. 
I. City will work with adjacent owners during development to acquire 

easement for sanitary sewer tap 
J. Sanitary Sewer Tap Fee shall be waived by the City (property owner is 

responsible for all installation costs) 
 

K. City will work to acquire water rights for the property identified in Exhibit 
A. 



Page 3 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

L. City will waive Water Tap Fee and any charges for water meters (this is a 
one-time waiver for initial installation of City meters) 

 
5. Additional Provisions. 
 
6. Waiver.  Owners waive their right to withdraw their consent pursuant to Section 

368.7(1)(e). 
 
7. Agreement Binding.  This Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the 

benefit of all successors, assigns, executors, administrators and grantees of the 
parties. 

 
Dated this _____ day of ______________, 2017. 
 
 
OWNERS:   
   

Gayln W Bedwell  Diana J Bedwell 
 
 
 
 
 

  

   

Gayln W Bedwell, Trustee  Diana J Bedwell, Trustee 
 
 
 

   

CITY OF NORWALK, IOWA:   
   

Mayor  Clerk 
 



Page 4 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Description of Subject Property 

 
 

Beginning at the W ¼ corner of Setion 17, Township 77 North, Range 24 West of the 5th 
P.M., thence S 89 degrees 22 minutes 57 seconds E 674.60 feet along the North line of the 
SW ¼ of said Section 17, thence S 1 degree 16 minutes 31 seconds363.20 feet, thence N 88 
degrees 21 minutes 33 seconds W 666.30 feet to the West line of said Section 17, thence N 0 
degrees 0 minutes 0 seconds 371.3 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
 
Parcel ID 05000170644 
Property Address 8044 G14 HWY 

NORWALK IA 50211 
Sec/Twp/Rng 17-77-24 
  Brief Tax Description 17-77-24 5.81A NW COR NW SW 
Deed Book/Page 2015-10244 (12/14/2015) 
Current Tax Class R – Residential (from Warren County GIS Website) 
School District NORWALK SCHOOL 
 
 
Deed Holder 

Bedwell, Gayln W Tst/Bedwell, Diana J Tst  
BEDWELL, GAYLN W/DIANA J  
8044 G14 Hwy  
Norwalk IA 50211 

Mailing Address 
Bedwell, Gayln W Tst/Bedwell, Diana J Tst 
8044 G14 Hwy 
Norwalk IA 50211 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

javascript:__doPostBack('ctlBodyPane$ctl01$ctl01$lstDeed$ctl01$lnkAddress1','')
javascript:__doPostBack('ctlBodyPane$ctl01$ctl01$lstDeed$ctl01$lnkAddress1','')


Page 5 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

EXHIBIT "B" 
Application for Voluntary Annexation 

 
 
To the City of Norwalk: 
 
The undersigned,  Gayln W Bedwell and Diana J Bedwell, husband and wife, Galen W. Bedwell, 
as trustee of the Galyn W. Bedwell Trust and Diana J. Bedwell, as Trustee of the Diana J. 
Bedwell Trust Gayln W Bedwell and Diana J Bedwell, husband and wife, owner(s) or authorized 
representative(s) of the owner(s) of all property legally described in "Exhibit A" attached hereto 
and by this reference made a part hereof, and as shown on the map attached hereto and by this 
reference made a part hereof, authorized to execute this application on behalf of Gayln W 
Bedwell and Diana J Bedwell, husband and wife, the owner(s) of the property legally described 
in "Exhibit A", respectfully request the property  be annexed and become a part of the City of 
Norwalk, Iowa. 
 
 
OWNERS:   
   

Gayln W Bedwell  Diana J Bedwell 
 
 
 

  

   

Gayln W Bedwell, Trustee  Diana J Bedwell, Trustee 
 
 
 

Attachments: 
Exhibit A: Legal description and map of the property to be annexed 
Exhibit C: Current use and allowances description. 
 

 
 
 

 
Iowa Code Section 368.7 gives the landowner(s) consenting to voluntary annexation of their land 
the right to withdraw consent to annexation within three business days after the public hearing on 
the application to annex land unless this right is waived. 
 
I hereby waive my right to withdraw consent to annexation within three business days after the 
public hearing on the application as evidenced by my signature below. 
 
OWNERS:   



Page 6 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

   

Gayln W Bedwell  Diana J Bedwell 
   

   

Gayln W Bedwell, Trustee  Diana J Bedwell, Trustee 
 
 
 

  



Page 7 
f:\a_new\projects\bedwell\bedwell pre-annexation agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review.docx 

EXHIBIT "C" 
Current Use and Allowances Description 

 
1. Allow existing On-site wastewater treatment systems(subject to DNR/County/ State of 

Iowa regulations) 
 

2. Allow small natural waterways for sediment filtration without nuisance or destruction to 
adjoining or neighboring properties. (subject to DNR/County/ State of Iowa regulations) 

3. Require no installation of sidewalks for current structures and lot use. 
4. Recreational Fires allowed per Norwalk Code 
5. The raising, or handling of livestock. 
6. Open burning. 
7. The formation and use of compost piles that do not otherwise create a nuisance. 
8. The discharge of firearms for target practice. 
9. The discharge of firearms, bow and arrows or other devices for the purpose of any 

hunting, including pheasant, quail, duck, geese, deer, coyote, rabbit, or other animals as 
allowed by state law. 

10. Septic tanks and the lateral fields used with septic tanks. 
11.10. The growing of crops including, but not limited to, corn, beans, alfalfa, brome, 

wheat, residential grass (sod), for resale, etc.  
12.11. Maintain Bedwell residence and Bedwell Gardens Greenhouse and Nursery as it 

exists today.  Maintain driveways and entrances as they exist today. 
13.12. Allow hook-up to sewer line in proximity of property. 
13. Allow residence and business to maintain their current method of 

garbage/recycling(subject to DNR/County/ State of Iowa regulations) 
14.  

 
Current Buildings on Bedwell Property: 

1. Residence (house) 
2. Small storage building 
3. Single door garage 
4. Triple door garage 
5. Barn 
6. Metal building for machinery storage and other ancillary uses for the business 
7. Five (5) greenhouses 
8. Seed building 
9. Well building 



RESOLUTION NO.  ___________ 
 
Resolution Authorizing Execution of a Pre-Annexation Agreement with 
Bedwell Gardens 
 
This Pre-Annexation Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Norwalk, 
Iowa, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “City”) and  
 
WHEREAS, Gayln W Bedwell and Diana J Bedwell, husband and wife, are the current 
owners of Bedwell Gardens; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Subject Property is presently located entirely within Warren County, 
Iowa, and outside the corporate limits of any other city; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Subject Property adjoins the existing City boundaries; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the owners desire to have the City annex the property into the Norwalk city 
limits; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to annex the subject property. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF NORWALK, IOWA: 

 
The City Council hereby authorizes the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the Pre-Annexation 
Agreement with Bedwell Gardens 

 
PASSED THIS 3rd day of August, 2017. 
  
AYES (A), NAYES (N), ABSENT (X), ABSTAIN (/): 
 
Erika Isley   Jaki Livingston     
Ed Kuhl    Stephanie Riva     
David Lester            
 
 
  
     

Mayor 
City of Norwalk 

 Clerk 
City of Norwalk 
 

 
  
 



             
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 Item No. 6B 
 For Meeting of 07.24.2017 
   

ITEM TITLE: Request from Windsor Windows & Doors to approve the Final Plat for Windsor 
Windows Plat 1 
 

CONTACT PERSON: Luke Parris, AICP – Community Development Director 
 
APPLICANT(S): Windsor Windows & Doors  Snyder & Associates 

900 S 29th Street    2727 SW Snyder Blvd 
West Des Moines, IA 50265  Ankeny, IA 50023 
 

GENERAL 
DESCRIPTION: 

This request would create one 23.54 acre lot and one 0.85 acre lot for industrial 
development at the northwest corner of IA 28 and Delaware Street.  The property in 
question was certified as an industrial site through the Iowa Economic Development 
Authority in 2014. 
 

IMPACT ON 
NEIGHBORHOOD: 

The properties surrounding are agricultural in nature.  Ground to the west is part of the 
certified industrial site.  Ground to the north is part of the existing Norwalk Business 
Center industrial park.  Ground to the east is Ag land located in the City limits.  Ground to 
the west is Ag land in the county.  The increase in traffic will have an impact on 
surrounding property but was anticipated by the City as part of the site certification 
process. 
 

VEHICULAR & 
PEDESTRIAN 
TRAFFIC: 

Delaware Street will be paved with an urban cross section.  A deceleration lane will be 
added to IA 28 for the truck traffic turning onto Delaware Street.  The City is anticipating 
receiving a RISE grant from the Iowa DOT to assist in the paving of Delaware Street. 
 

TRAIL PLAN: The plat shows 5’ sidewalks along IA 28 and Delaware Street.  The City is willing to waive 
the installation of these sidewalks at this time with the property owner has agreed to a 
petition and waiver for the sidewalks.  This will allow for the City to assess the property 
owner for the cost of constructing the sidewalk at a future date when it is deemed 
necessary. 
 

ZONING HISTORY 
FOR SITE AND 
IMMEDIATE 
VICINITY: 

This site is zoned in the M-1 General Industrial.  Land to the west is zoned M-1 General 
Industrial as part of the certified industrial site.  The land to the east is zoned A-R, Ag 
Reserve, and the land to the south is located outside of the City limits. 
 
All of the surrounding ground is anticipated to be industrial land uses per the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 



BUFFERS REQUIRED/ 
NEEDED: 
 

Adjacent uses are A-R Ag Reserve that would typically require a buffer from M-1 
developments.  However, the adjacent ground is all proposed to be industrial per the 
future land use plan in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  The developer has indicated they 
will provide a buffer and berm along Iowa Highway 28.  The details of the buffer are 
shown on the site plan for the project. 
 

DRAINAGE: Drainage from the site is collect in a detention basin located on the western portion of the 
lot.   
 

DEVELOPMENT 
HISTORY: 

The area was certified as an industrial site through the Iowa Economic Development 
Authority in 2014.  The City recently rezoned the property to M-1 General Industrial in 
April 2017. 
 

FLOODPLAIN: None of the proposed lots are located within a floodplain. 
 

PARKLAND: Industrial development does not require parkland dedication. 
 

UTILITIES: WATER, 
SANITARY SEWER, 
STORM SEWER. 

As part of the site certification process through the Iowa Economic Development 
Authority, the City has committed to providing water and sanitary sewer service to the 
site.  The City’s engineer is currently designing installation of a new sanitary sewer main 
and new water main that will serve the site.  The City engineer and developer’s engineer 
have coordinated design efforts to align utilities. 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO 
COMPREHENSIVE 
LAND USE PLAN: 

This area and the ground surrounding it is identified as industrial ground in the City future 
land use plan. 
 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS – 
ZONING 
ORDINANCE: 

The Preliminary Plat consists of 2 industrial lots, 23.54 acres and 0.85 acres respectively.  
2.26 acres of land along IA 28 and Delaware Street will be dedicated to the City for Right-
Of-Way purposes. 
 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS – 
SUBDIVISION 
ORDINANCE: 

The Subdivision Ordinance requires that Preliminary Plat submissions details on lot design, 
street layout, sanitary sewer layout, water main layout, grading, and storm water 
management. Many of the elements, such as street design, water main and sanitary sewer 
mains are being designed and constructed by the City and are not required on this 
preliminary plat.  The grading will be completed through a separate grading permit. 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the request for the Final Plat of Windsor Windows Plat 1 be 
approved with the following conditions:  

 
• That the applicant will or has provided all supporting documentation required within 

the Norwalk Subdivision Regulations prior to staff releasing this resolution and platting 
documents for recording at the County 

• That any significant modifications to the final plat be reviewed and approved by the 
Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council. 
 

 
  



DRAFT RESOLUTION NO. ___ 
 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PRELIMINARY PLAT OF WINDSOR WINDOWS PLAT 1 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission reviewed this request at their regular meeting 
on July 24, 2017 and recommends approval of the Final Plat; and 
 
WHEREAS, that the applicant will or has provided all supporting documentation required 
within the Norwalk Subdivision Regulations prior to staff releasing this resolution and platting 
documents for recording at the County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, that any significant modifications to the preliminary plat be reviewed and 
approved by the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: That the City Council does hereby approve the Final 
Plat for Windsor Windows Plat 1 as described and shown in Attachment “A” attached 
hereto and made a part thereof by reference. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED this 3rd day of August, 2017. 
 
       
      __________________________________ 
      Tom Phillips - Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
JODI EDDLEMAN, CITY CLERK 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE:    Aye  Nay 
    
Kuhl    ___  ___ 
Lester    ___  ___ 
Isley    ___  ___ 
Riva    ___  ___ 
Livingston   ___  ___ 
 



 B
Y

D
A

T
E

R
E

V
IS
IO

N
M

A
R

K

S
c
a
le
:

C
h
e
c
k
e
d
 B

y
:

E
n
g
in
e
e
r:

T
e
c
h
n
ic
ia

n
:

D
a
te
:

F
ie
ld
 B

k
: 
  
  
  
  
P
g
:

1
"=
 

R
M

V
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
1
7
\

1
1
7
.0

1
0
8
.0

1
\

C
A

D
D
\

F
P
0
1
_

1
1
7

0
1
0
8
.d

g
n

7
/
1
4
/
2
0
1
7

4
:0

6
:0

5
 

P
M

D
e
f
a
u
lt

1
:1

0
0

Y
:\

p
e
n
\

d
a
t
e
.t

b
l

Y
:\

p
r
in
t
_

d
r
iv

e
r
s
\

B
la

c
k
_

G
r
a
y
\

V
8
iB

W
F
u
ll

W
e
ig

h
t
P

D
F
.p
lt
c
f
g

S
h
e
e
t

o
f

Sheet of

Project No:

S
N

Y
D

E
R
 

&
 
A

S
S

O
C
I
A

T
E

S
,
 
I
N

C
.

P
ro
je
c
t 

N
o
:

5
1
5
-9

6
4
-2

0
2
0
  
| 
 w

w
w
.s

n
y
d
e
r-
a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
.c

o
m

A
N

K
E

N
Y
, 
IO

W
A
 5

0
0
2
3

2
7
2
7
 S
.W
. 
S

N
Y

D
E

R
 B

L
V

D
.

1

J
A

L
M

A
A

R
M

M
0
6
/0

9
/1

7

1

117.0108

1
1
7
.0

1
0
8

N
O

R
W

A
L

K
, 
IO

W
A

W
IN

D
S

O
R
 W

IN
D

O
W

S
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

OWNER/APPLICANT

M-1: GENERAL INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT

ZONING

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

50.01'

N
0
°
1
8
'2

3
"

W
1
2
2
5
.9

2
'

1

1

WEST DES MOINES, IA 50265
900 S 29TH STREET
WINDSOR WINDOWS & DOORS

DATE OF SURVEY

1
0
0
'

50' BUILDING SETBACK

5
0
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

S89°22'46"E 760.18'

(To Be Vacated)

(Book 64, Page 214)

32' Water Line Easement

(Book 33, Page 445)

16.5' Telephone Easement

(To Be Vacated)

(Book 64, Page 214)

32' Water Line Easement

A
-1

LOT 1

STREET LOT A

50.00'

280.06'

0

SCALE (FEET)

100

S
T

R
E

E
T
 L

O
T
 A

1
3
2
.0

2
'

S
0
°
1
9
'5

"
E

2.61 AC
113,479 SF

23.54 AC
1,025,547 SF

VICINITY MAP

NOT TO SCALE

NORWALK, IOWA 50211
901 SUNSET DRIVE

LOT ADDRESS

BULK REGULATIONS

CURVE TABLE

CHORD BEARING/DISTANCETANGENTARC LENGTHRADIUSDELTACURVE NO.

F
IN

A
L
 P

L
A

T

A-1 45.00' 71.41' 45.73' 64.15'
Date 

License Number 19710

My License Renewal Date is December 31, 2017

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:
IOWAIOWA

19710
 

GRIFFIN
ERIN D. Erin D. Griffin, PLS

R
O

Y
E

V
R

U
S
 D

NAL L
ANOISSEFORP

 
D

E
S

N
E

C
I

L

laws of the State of Iowa.

licensed Professional Land Surveyor under the 

personal supervision and that I am a duly 

work was performed by me or under my direct 

document was prepared and the related survey 

I hereby certify that this land surveying 

2
.6

1
 
A

C

1
1
3
,4

7
9
 

S
F

50' REAR YARD
10' SIDE YARD
50' FRONT YARDSETBACKS:
100'MINIMUM LOT WIDTH:
20,000 SFMINIMUM LOT AREA:

5
0
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

10' BUILDING SETBACK
S89°04'19"E 280.07'

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
5
0
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 10' BUILDING SETBACK

10' BUILDING SETBACK

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
5
0
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 

LOT 2

0.85 AC
37,095 SF

P.M., CITY OF NORWALK, WARREN COUNTY, IOWA.
24, TOWNSHIP 77 NORTH, RANGE 25 EAST OF THE 5TH 
OF THE EAST 1/2 OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 
WARREN COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE AND BEING A PART 
PARCEL "E" AS FILED IN BOOK 2017, PAGE 4722 OF THE 

(To Be Vacated)

(Book 64, Page 214)

32' Water Line Easement

(Book 33, Page 445)

16.5' Telephone Easement

15' Water Main Easement

15' Water Main Easement

15' Water Main Easement

WINDSOR WINDOWS PLAT 1

5' Pedestrian Easement

5' Pedestrian Easement

Survey Found  Set 

C

D

R

M

P

+

LEGEND

Easement Line

1/4 1/4 Section Line

1/4 Section Line

Section Line

Centerline

Calculated Distance

Deed Distance

Recorded As

Measured Bearing & Distance

Platted Distance

Calculated Point

ROW Rail

   (Unless Otherwise Noted)

1/2" Rebar, Yellow Plastic Cap #19710

1/2" Rebar, Yellow Plastic Cap #13146

1/2" Rebar, Orange Plastic Cap #19828

Section Corner

BASIS OF BEARING

SECTION AREAS

NE1/4 NW1/4 = 1.0 Ac. (43,567 S.F.)
SE1/4 NW1/4 = 26.0 Ac. (1,132,553 S.F.)

OF SECTION 24-77-25 IS ASSUMED TO BEAR S00°18'23"E.
THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4

MARCH 30, 2017

 330.06' M&R

Fnd PK Nail

Parcel "E"

& SW Corner

Sec. 24-77-25

Center of

Fnd PK Nail

Sec. 24-77-25

SE1/4 NW1/4

NE Corner

Fnd Nail

Parcel "E"

NE Corner

 525.90' M&R

Sec
. 24

-77
-25

Pt. 
NE1/

4 NW1/4

(Bk
 20

17-
472

2)
Par

cel 
"E"

L8

L7

L6

L5

L4

L3

L2

L1

LINE TABLE

S89°15'35"E 40.00'M&R

N00°19'05"W 132.03'M&R

N00°18'23"W 44.85'M&R

S89°41'37"W 12.00'M&R

N00°18'23"W 148.00'M&R

N89°41'37"E 12.00'M&R

N00°18'23"W 108.00'M&R

N05°31'46"E 98.35'M&R

(Bk
 20

14-
872

4)
PT P

arc
el "

D"

 
13

2
4
.2

6
' 

M
&

R

 
13

2
2
.4

7
' 

M
&

R

L3

L
4

L5

L
6

L
7

L8

L
1

L
2

N
0
0
°1

8
'2

3
"

W
 

8
8
3
.6

9
'M

&
R

3.6' North

Aluminum Cap

Fnd IDOT

Roadway Easement

50.00'M&R Existing

Roadway Easement

40.00'M&R Existing 

Plastic Cap #19710

Fnd 1/2" Rebar Yellow

Fnd Pk Nail

Parcel "E"

SW Corner

40.01' M&R

 855.93' M&R

Roadway Easement

Existing

50.00' ROW

Plastic Cap #19710

Fnd 1/2" Rebar Yellow

Parcel "E"

NW Corner

23

24 19

18

13

14

11

12

7

T-77N

R-25W R-24W

17

6

5

1
2

3

10

15

(N
O

R
W

A
L

K
 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 

L
I

M
I
T

S
)

( 
N

O
R

W
A

L
K
 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 

L
I

M
I
T

S
 
)

( 
N

O
R

W
A

L
K
 

C
O

R
P
. 

L
I

M
I
T

S
 
)

(NORWALK CORPORATE LIMITS)

( NORWALK CORPO
R

A
T
E
 
L
IM
IT

S
 
)

( 
N

O
R

W
A

L
K
 

C
O

R
P
. LIMITS )

( NORKWALK CORPORATELIMITS )

(NORWALK CORP.  LIMITS)

( NORWALK / WEST DES MOINES CORPORATE LIMITS )

( NORWALK CORPORATE LIMITS )

35
34

36 31
32

( NORWALK / DES MOINES CORPORATE LIMITS )

LEWIS AVE

MARIE AVE

MAPLEAVE

ONSTOT

AVE

SCHOOL

SOUTH

AVE

AVE

S
N

Y
D

E
R

A
V

E

P
L

C
E

N
T

E
R

S
T

C
H

E
R

R
Y

KNOLLDR

SPRUCE

A
S

P
E

N D
R

R
E

D
W

O
O

D
D

R

L
I
N

D
E

N
 

D
R

MAFRED DR

KNOLLDR

SHADY DR

S
K

Y
L

A
N

E

M
E

A
D

O
W

D
R

D
R

M
A
I
N

S
T

C
T

DR
NORWOOD DR

AVE

H
O

L
L

Y

C
E

D
A

R
S

T

D
R

O
A

K

S
T

PARKHILL DR

S
T

M
A
I
N

LAKEWOOD DR

DEVLIN DR

CANDLEWICK DR

WAKONDA DR

DR

DR

D
R

COLUMBINE DR

C
O

L
U

M
B
I
N

E

C
T

C
O

L
U

M
B
I
N

E
P
I
N

E
H

U
R

S
T

D
R

DR

VIEW
GRAND-

OAKCREEK DR

M
A

P
L

E
C

R
E

S
T

D
R

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
D

R

HYPERION DR

D
R

 
D

R

P
O

N
D

E
R

O
S

A

LAKEWOOD

DR

OAKCREEK

DR

L
A

K
E

BEARDSLEY ST

W
A

K
O

N
D

A

D
R

DR

AVERY AVE

SWAN DR

MERLE HUFF AVE

S
T

NORTH AVE

E
 
1
8

T
H
 

S
T

E
 
1
7

T
H
 

S
T

S
T

D
R

M
A

S
T

E
L

L
E

R
 

R
D

5
0

T
H
 

A
V

E

8
0

T
H
 

A
V

E

S
T

C
A

S
A

D
Y
 

D
R

E
 
2
0
T

H

S
U

N
S

E
T
 

D
R

K
I
T

T
E

R
M

A
N
 

C
I
R

WRIGHT RD

L
E

X
I
N

G
T

O
N
 

D
R

ELM AVE

O
L

D
O

R
C

H
A

R
D

CLARKE ST

E
 
1
9

T
H
 

S
T

G
R

E
E

N
 

H
I
L

L
S
 

D
R

VISTA

CT

LEGACY

THORNHILL RD

T
U

R
N

B
E

R
R

Y
 

D
R

HAWTHORN

CRESENT

LN

NORTH AVE

AVERY 
CT

G
E

O
R

G
E

T
O

W
N
 

A
V

E

GEORGETOWN

C
I
R

C
IR

W
O

O
D

M
A

Y
R

C
I
R

V
A

L
L

E
Y

D
R

G
O

L
D

E
N

C
IR

C
L

E
A

R
W

A
T

E
R

PKWY

GORDON

LN

H
O

L
L

Y

AVE

LN

HWY G14

SHADY LN DR

H
U

N
T

E
R
 

D
R

HAKES

DR

TREVOR CT

A
S

P
E

N
 

D
R

J
A

C
K

S
O

N
 

S
T

PINE AVE

L
A

N
E
 

A
V

E

C
E

N
T

E
R

ELM

D
R

E
D

G
E

M
O

N
T
 

P
L

C
H

E
R

R
Y
 

P
K

W
Y

RICHARD GEORGE DR

CARPENTER 

HIGH RD

DR

PL

W
O

O
D

H
A

P
P

Y
 

H
O

L
L

O
W
 

D
R

W
A

V
E

L
A

N
D
 

D
R

E
L

M
C

R
E

S
T

O
L

D
 

O
R

C
H

A
R

D

P
I
N

E
H

U
R

S
T
 

L
N

PINEHURST DR

( 
N

O
R

W
A

L
K
 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 

L
I

M
I
T

S
 
)

( 
N

O
R

W
A

L
K
 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 

L
I

M
I
T

S
 
)

( 
N

O
R

W
A

L
K
 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 

L
I

M
I
T

S
 
)

DAKOTA ST

DELAWARE ST

ADAMS ST

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 

H
I
L

L
S
 

D
R

W PINE AVE

DR

MICHAEL 

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E
 

ELM
 

AVE

PINE

R
O

L
L
I
N

G
 

H
I
L

L
S

C
T

H
W

Y
 

G
1
4

A
U

G
U

S
T

A

C
I
R

C
A

S
S

A
N

D
R

A

AVE

M
E

R
L
EH

U
F
F

S
U

N
S

E
T
 

D
R

W
O

O
D

M
A

Y
R
 
 

D
R

E
S
S
E

X
 
C
IR

TURNBERRY DR

D
R

A
L

A
M

O
 
T

R
L

POLK COUNTY

WARREN COUNTY

B
E

R
K

S
H
I
R

E
 

D
R

HAWTHORNE

CT

CENT LN
CRE

W
I
N

D
S

O
R

D
R

CIR

HIGH RD

R
E

L
L
I

M
D

R

B
R

A
E

B
U

R
N

D
R

A
P
P

L
E

B
L

O
S
S

O
M
C

T

E
L

M

C
T

T
A

N
G
E
L

O

C
IR

 W

AVE

D
R

PARKHILL
DR

NL

ROLLONG

HILLS CT

E
1
8

T
H

S
T

SWAN

CI
R

N
O

R

W
OOD CT

22
20

27
26 25 30

(NORWALK CORPORATE LIMITS)

8

La
ke
 Co
lec

he
ste
r

Middle
Creek

M
I
S

T
Y

L
N

SUNDANCE 
CT

DR

N
O
R

W
O

O
D

PARKHILL

V
IC

T

OR
IACIRJUSTIN CT

E
 
1
3

T
H

S
T

E
 
14

T
H

S
T

SWAN CT

C
A
SA

DYDR

W
IN

FLO
D

WERDR

H
U

N
T

E
R

SHADY

GREEN DRHIL
LS

DR

COLONIAL

B
R
I
S

T
O

L
S
T

GORD
O

NAVE

ASHWOOD AVE

B
I
R

C
H

S
T

DORCHESTER ST

B
A
L
F

O
U
R DR

( NORWALK CORPORATE LIMITS )

CHATHAM

AVE

C
E

D
A

R
 
S
T

C
O
L

O
N
I
A

L
P

K
W

Y

ECHO

R
I
D

G
E

T
R

L

B
L

U
E

S
T

E
M

RD

PRAIRIE

MEDI
NA

OXFORD

L
A

W
O

O
D

K
E

P
O
IN

T
E

D
R

E
C

H
O
 

D
R

F
L

E
U

R
 

D
R

GANNETT AVE

AVE

GANNETT

SW 
23

RD 
ST

4
0

T
H
 

A
V

E

S COUNTY LINE RD

DR
SILVERADO

ELK HORN ST

BEARDSLEY ST

S
W
 

2
8

T
H
 

S
T

BORDER ST

O
L

D
 
2
8

ALBANY TRL
42ND LN

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 

T
R

L

V
A
L
E

N
C
IA

C
T

COLONIAL PKWY

COUNTY LINE ROAD

BRONZE ST

A
R
T

H
U
R
 
T

R
L

91-5587

SCALE IN MILES

0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.75 1.0

0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0

SCALE IN KILOMETERS

HIGHWAY AND STREET MAP

OF

PREPARED BY

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

PLANNING, PROGRAMMING, AND MODAL DIVISION

OFFICE OF SYSTEMS PLANNING

PHONE (515) 239-1664

IN COOPERATION WITH

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION

LEGEND

1502- -16

IOWA

9, T-81N,  R-30W

BUSINESS ROUTE

STATE NUMBERED ROUTE

UNSIGNED ROUTE

COUNTY NUMBERED ROUTE

SECONDARY ROAD OR ADJOINING CITY STREET

CITY STREET

PARK, INSTITUTION, OR FEDERAL ROAD

RAILROAD

CORPORATION LINE

SECTION LINE

SECTION, TOWNSHIP & RANGE NUMBERS

U.S. NUMBERED ROUTE

FREEWAY OR EXPRESSWAY ROUTE

INTERSTATE ROUTE 

CUL-DE-SAC

NORWALK

COOLIDGE ST

CORPORATE LIMITS)

(N
O

R
W

A
L

K

W
E

T
H

E
R

SF
I
E

L
D
 

D
R

A
S

P
E

N
 

D
R

A
U
T

U
M

N

S
A

G
E
 
C
IR

P
R

A
I
R
I
E

C
L

O
V

E
R
 

C
T

PRAIRIE RIDGE DR

B
O

T
T

L
E

B
R

U
S

H
D

R

C
O

N
E

C
I
R

F
L

O
W

E
R

S
W
I
T

C
HG

R
A

S
ST

R
L

F
O

X
T

A
I
L

C
I
R

PROJECT LOCATION

R57

5
5

28

28

G14

30

6

BUSINESS

61

R38

461

44

35



Windsor
Windows

Site

MARIE AVE MA
IN

 ST

S S
UN

SE
T D

R

CE
NT

ER
 ST

WRIGHT
RD

CH
ER

RY
 ST

RE
LL

IM
 D

R

MAPLE
AVE

SN
YD

ER
 AV

E

SY
CA

MO
RE

 DR

BRAEBURN DR

ORCHARD HILLS DR

SU
NS

ET
 D

R

SYCAMORE

DR

PINE AVE

COOLIDGE ST

ELMCT

W PINE AVE

ONSTOT LN

TANGELO CIR

PINE AVE

BRADFORD DR

LA
NE

 AV
E

BRAEBURN CIR

APPLE

BLOSSOM CT

SCHOOL AVE

AS
PE

N 
DR

JA
CK

SO
N

ST

HICKORYDR

MARIE AVE

HAKES DR

ORCHARD TR

CE
NT

ER
 PL

SOUTH AVE

ELM AVE

MAPLE AVE

ELM AVE

LEWIS AVE

SU
NS

ET
 D

R
S S

UN
SE

T D
R

WRIGHT RD

DELAWARE ST

W WRIGHT RD

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AEX,
Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN, IGP, swisstopo, and the GIS User Community

Windsor Windows Vicinity Map

Legend
WC_Parcels
City Limits
Norwalk Streets
Lakes
Rivers

¯ Print Date: 07/21/2017

0 0.30.15
Miles



             
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 Item No. 6C 
 For Meeting of 07.24.2017 
   

ITEM TITLE: Request from Windsor Windows & Doors to approve the Site Plan for Windsor 
Windows at 901 Sunset Drive 

CONTACT PERSON: Luke Parris, AICP – Community Development Director 
 
REQUEST: Request from Windsor Windows & Doors to approve the site plan for the new Windsor 

Windows facility at 901 Sunset Drive 
 

APPLICANT(S): Windsor Windows & Doors  Snyder & Associates 
900 S 29th Street    2727 SW Snyder Blvd 
West Des Moines, IA 50265  Ankeny, IA 50023 
 

GENERAL 
DESCRIPTION: 

This request is for the development of the Windows Windows & Doors vinyl window 
production facility, addressed as 901 Sunset Drive. 
 

IMPACT ON 
NEIGHBORHOOD: 

The site is the eastern lot of the Ancell/Knox certified site at the corner of Iowa Highway 
28 and Delaware Street.  The area is currently agricultural with a few homes nearby.  The 
use is industrial that will increase car and truck traffic to the area.  The City has planned 
for this use in the area through the Comprehensive Planning process and the State site 
certification process. 
 

VEHICULAR & 
PEDESTRIAN 
TRAFFIC: 

Employee parking and loading dock access are both provided off of Delaware Street.  A 
temporary access drive is provided north of the facility to allow for access during the City 
construction of Delaware Street.  The facility will increase car and truck traffic on to Iowa 
28 at Delaware Street.  The City is currently working on a traffic study that will determine 
impacts and needed improvements along Iowa 28, particularly at the intersection of 
North Avenue. 
 
The City received a RISE grant for the construction of Delaware Street.  Traffic 
improvements will also include a deceleration lane on southbound Iowa 28 for traffic 
slowing to make the turn onto Delaware Street. 
 

PARKING: The Windsor Windows & Doors facility consists of multiple uses, office, warehouse, and 
manufacturing.  The City code requires different amounts of parking for each use type.  In 
total the City requires 130 spaces for the proposed facility.  The site plan shows 167 
spaces (6 handicap accessible) which exceeds the amount required. 
 
 
 



OPEN SPACE & 
BUFFER 
LANDSCAPING: 

The site provides the minimum of 20% of open space required by the City code.  The first 
phase of the site will have 69.5% open space and at full buildout of the facility, with all 
planned expansions, the site will have 36.2% open space. 
 
For landscaping, the full buildout of the facility is required to provide 142 trees and 213 
shrubs.  The site provides 76 trees and 103 shrubs with the first phase; the remaining 
buildout will have 66 trees and 110 shrubs.  The final buildout will meet the City 
requirement for landscaping. 
 
The site plan shows a berm and buffer along Iowa Highway 28.   The landscaping shown is 
for a 50 foot wide buffer.  The plantings are shown on the western half of the berm area 
because the City requested a 15 foot water easement along Iowa Highway 28 and the City 
did not want the water main to be impacted by tree planted over top of it. 
 

SIGNAGE: A monument sign location is shown at the southeast corner of the property.  The sign 
location meets required sign setbacks.  The details of the monument sign and any building 
signs will be reviewed via the City’s sign permitting process. 
 

ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS: 

The City’s architectural standards require that buildings in the M-1 district be composed 
of 20% class 1 or class 2 materials on the street facing façade; no more than 80% class 3 
materials on the street facing façade, with any class 4 materials being no more than 10% 
of the street facing façade. 
 
The Windsor Windows facility has street facing façade on the east and south elevations.  
The submitted architectural elevation shows smooth concrete panels with three varying 
paint colors and windows that meet the requirements of the architectural standards. 
 

DRAINAGE: The site includes an on-site system to collect storm water runoff from the parking and 
building.  The storm water system empties to an on-site detention basin to the west of 
the building.  This basin was designed to hold the appropriate amount of runoff until it 
outlets into the planned City storm sewer along Delaware Street. 
 

UTILITIES: WATER, 
SANITARY SEWER, 
STORM SEWER. 

Adequate services are provided to the site and detailed on the site plan.  The City will be 
constructing the water and sanitary sewer along Iowa Highway 28 and Delaware Street.  
The City Engineer and the Developer Engineer are coordinating efforts to ensure that 
service connections are made in the proper locations. 

 
STAFF ANALYSIS: Overall the site plan meets or exceeds the City’s requirements for development of an M-1 

parcel.  As noted, the developer has shown the landscaping for the buffer located along 
the western portion of the buffer berm area.  This was done at the request of City staff 
due to concerns from the City Engineer related to a water main and easement through 
the area.  Review of the buffer would indicate that it will still serve the buffering needs of 
the site. 
 
The site plan proposal at this time is for the first phase of the Windsor Windows & Doors 
facility.  Windsor plans to expand the facility at some point in the future.  Certain details, 
such as open space and buffering, are provided for this first phase and for the full buildout 
of the site.  It should be noted that at this time that only the improvements related to 
phase one will be constructed and installed.  Other improvements will be built/installed 
during development of future expansions, which will require further site plan review and 
approval by the City. 
 



STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

The staff recommends approval with the following conditions:  
 

• That the site development and building construction follow all City code 
regulations. 

• That any significant modifications to the site plan be reviewed and approved by 
the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council. 

 
  



RESOLUTION NO. ___ 
 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SITE PLAN FOR WINDSOR WINDOWS AT 901 SUNSET DRIVE 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission reviewed this request at their regular meeting 
on July 24, 2017 and recommends approval of the Site Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, that the site development and building construction follow all City code 
regulations; and 
 
WHEREAS, that any significant modifications to the site plan be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: That the City Council does hereby approve the Site 
Plan for Windsor Windows at 901 Sunset Drive as described and shown in Attachment “A” 
attached hereto and made a part thereof by reference. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED this 3rd day of August, 2017. 
 
       
      __________________________________ 
      Tom Phillips - Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
JODI EDDLEMAN, CITY CLERK 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE:    Aye  Nay 
    
Kuhl    ___  ___ 
Lester    ___  ___ 
Isley    ___  ___ 
Riva    ___  ___ 
Livingston   ___  ___ 
 



























7.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.9

2.0

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.7

1.3

1.7

1.3

0.9

1.3

1.6

1.3

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.5

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

1.0

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.6

2.3

3.1

4.0

3.9

2.9

2.2

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.4

3.3

3.8

3.3

2.3

1.7

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.5

2.1

2.8

2.3

2.9

2.2

1.6

1.1

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.3

1.7

2.3

3.1

3.6

3.6

3.0

2.2

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.6

2.0

2.8

3.9

4.0

3.9

2.8

1.9

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.7

4.0

4.6

4.1

2.8

1.9

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.6

2.5

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.8

2.2

2.7

2.8

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.3

3.0

3.2

3.1

2.4

1.8

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.0

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.1

1.5

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.4

2.2

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.1

2.9

3.9

2.8

2.2

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

3.7

4.5

3.1

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.2

3.4

4.4

3.0

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.0

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.6

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.7

1.2

2.5

3.3

2.6

2.2

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.6

2.6

2.6

2.3

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.2

2.6

2.5

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.5

2.5

2.6

2.2

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.5

2.6

2.4

1.9

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.5

2.4

2.5

2.0

1.4

0.9

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.4

2.0

2.4

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.5

3.3

4.4

4.2

2.9

2.0

1.6

1.6

1.9

2.7

3.8

4.2

3.2

2.3

1.8

1.8

1.9

2.5

3.3

4.2

3.8

2.7

1.9

1.6

1.6

2.0

2.8

4.1

4.4

3.2

2.3

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.4

3.4

4.1

3.5

2.4

1.5

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.8

1.6

1.9

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.4

2.2

1.9

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.5

1.1

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.7

3.0

3.2

3.4

3.2

1.9

2.0

1.7

1.3

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.4

1.6

2.1

2.6

3.2

3.7

4.1

4.4

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.5

1.8

2.1

2.7

3.3

3.8

4.9

6.1

4.9

3.4

2.3

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

1.2

1.8

2.1

2.3

2.8

3.3

3.9

4.5

4.9

3.7

3.0

2.3

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.6

1.6

2.3

2.8

2.6

3.0

3.4

3.6

3.6

3.6

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.4

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.8

1.3

3.1

3.9

3.0

2.9

3.0

2.9

2.8

2.5

1.3

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.0

3.9

4.3

3.2

2.7

2.7

2.6

2.3

2.1

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.8

1.3

3.6

4.2

3.1

2.6

2.6

2.4

2.0

1.8

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.7

1.5

2.6

3.3

2.7

2.6

2.8

2.7

2.4

2.1

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.5

2.0

2.4

2.3

2.7

2.9

3.0

3.0

2.6

1.3

1.5

1.4

1.1

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.8

1.5

1.8

2.1

2.7

3.1

3.4

3.7

3.7

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.4

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

1.2

1.6

1.9

2.5

3.1

3.7

4.5

5.1

3.7

3.0

2.3

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.5

3.1

3.7

4.8

6.0

4.9

3.4

2.3

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.5

3.1

3.6

4.0

4.4

3.2

2.8

2.2

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.3

3.2

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.3

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.6

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.4

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.6

1.1

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

1.3

1.8

2.2

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.6

2.4

2.3

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.7

1.3

2.4

3.0

2.6

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.3

2.2

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.2

3.2

4.2

3.2

2.9

3.0

2.9

2.7

2.5

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.3

3.2

4.5

3.5

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.4

3.2

1.4

1.7

1.4

1.2

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.8

1.2

3.3

4.3

3.3

3.3

3.9

4.3

4.6

4.7

2.7

2.3

2.0

1.5

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.7

1.5

2.4

3.1

2.8

3.4

4.2

4.9

6.0

6.8

4.1

3.2

2.3

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

1.4

1.9

2.3

2.5

3.4

4.4

5.3

6.3

6.6

4.7

3.4

2.2

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.7

1.5

1.8

2.3

3.4

4.5

5.5

6.1

6.8

3.0

2.6

2.1

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.3

1.6

2.2

3.1

4.0

5.0

6.0

1.7

1.9

1.6

1.3

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.2

1.6

2.1

2.9

3.8

4.6

5.4

7.1

1.1

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.3

1.6

2.1

2.9

3.7

4.3

4.4

4.8

0.7

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

1.3

1.7

2.2

2.9

3.5

3.9

4.1

3.8

0.7

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.8

1.5

1.9

2.3

3.0

3.5

3.8

4.0

3.6

1.1

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.4

1.9

2.3

2.5

3.1

3.7

4.1

4.2

4.0

1.7

1.9

1.6

1.3

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.3

2.5

3.2

2.8

3.0

3.6

4.1

4.6

4.8

3.0

2.6

2.1

1.6

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.9

1.3

3.5

4.4

3.3

3.1

3.5

3.9

4.8

5.9

4.7

3.4

2.2

1.5

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

0.8

3.9

4.5

3.4

3.2

3.4

3.8

4.1

4.3

4.1

3.2

2.4

1.5

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.9

0.9

1.4

3.3

4.2

3.3

3.2

3.3

3.3

3.3

3.1

2.6

2.3

2.2

1.6

1.0

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.8

1.9

2.6

3.2

2.9

2.9

3.1

3.0

2.8

2.5

1.4

2.0

1.7

1.3

0.9

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.6

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.7

2.5

2.2

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.8

2.2

2.4

2.5

2.4

2.5

2.8

3.2

4.0

5.1

6.2

5.0

3.4

2.6

2.2

2.3

2.6

3.3

4.8

6.2

5.4

3.7

2.8

2.3

2.2

2.4

3.1

4.6

6.4

5.9

4.0

2.7

2.3

2.1

2.4

3.1

4.4

6.3

6.1

4.2

3.0

2.5

2.3

2.5

2.9

4.1

6.0

6.1

4.2

2.8

2.2

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.4

2.3

2.5

2.9

3.3

3.8

4.2

4.2

3.8

3.2

2.7

2.4

2.5

2.8

3.3

3.8

4.2

4.0

3.5

2.9

2.5

2.4

2.6

3.0

3.7

4.1

4.1

3.6

2.9

2.5

2.4

2.7

3.2

3.8

4.1

4.1

3.6

3.0

2.7

2.6

2.7

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.1

3.6

2.8

2.1

1.5

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.6

1.9

2.3

2.5

2.5

2.6

2.9

3.2

3.5

3.7

3.5

3.4

3.0

2.6

2.5

2.6

2.8

3.2

3.6

3.6

3.6

3.3

2.8

2.5

2.4

2.5

2.8

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.4

2.9

2.7

2.7

2.9

3.1

3.5

3.5

3.4

3.3

2.9

2.7

2.7

2.9

3.0

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.3

2.6

2.0

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.9

3.1

3.2

3.0

2.8

2.8

2.7

2.4

2.3

2.4

2.7

3.2

3.2

3.2

3.2

3.1

2.7

2.3

2.2

2.3

2.6

2.7

2.7

2.9

3.2

3.0

2.8

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.0

2.8

2.8

2.9

2.7

2.5

2.5

2.8

3.0

3.2

3.1

3.0

2.9

2.4

1.8

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.5

1.8

2.1

2.5

2.8

3.0

2.9

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.2

2.1

2.2

2.1

2.0

2.2

2.5

2.8

2.9

3.0

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.3

2.6

2.8

2.8

2.8

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.3

2.2

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.3

2.6

2.9

3.1

2.9

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.7

2.1

2.8

3.5

3.6

3.4

2.8

2.2

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.9

3.4

3.4

3.0

2.4

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.4

3.1

3.5

3.5

3.0

2.4

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.5

3.4

2.7

2.1

1.7

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.9

4.2

4.9

4.3

3.0

2.1

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.7

2.3

3.3

4.5

4.7

3.7

2.5

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.8

2.5

3.7

4.7

4.6

3.3

2.4

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.7

3.8

4.6

4.0

2.8

2.0

1.4

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.6

2.3

2.9

2.4

3.0

2.3

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.3

1.9

2.4

3.2

3.4

2.6

2.0

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.6

3.4

3.2

2.4

1.9

1.3

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.6

2.2

2.6

2.1

2.7

2.2

1.6

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.9

0.8

1.0

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

0.6

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.0

0.8

1.0

1.1

0.9

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.9

1.1

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.8

1.0

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

www.tesdell.com

Scale

Project number

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

Tesdell Electric Ltd
1514 NE 69th Pl
Ankeny, Iowa 50021

515-289-4000 p
515-289-2541 f

 1" = 40'-0"

S2

Entire Area

69424

W
in

d
s
o
r 

W
in

d
o
w

s

Downing Contruction

04/04/2017

rt

rt

9
0
1
 S

u
n
s
e
t 
D

r/
H

w
y
 2

8
N

o
rw

a
lk

, 
IA

 1" = 40'-0"
1

S2 - Entire Area

No. Description Date

1 For Permit 06/14/2017



             
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 Item No. 6D 
 For Meeting of 07.24.2017 
   

ITEM TITLE: Request from K&R Wholesale to approve a grading plan for the K&R Wholesale 
Site on Colonial Parkway 
 

CONTACT PERSON: Luke Parris, AICP – Community Development Director 
 
APPLICANT(S): Neumann Brothers, Inc  McClure Engineering Company 

C.J. Morton   1360 NW 121st Street 
1435 Ohio Street    Clive, IA 50325 
Des Moines, IA 50314                     
 

GENERAL 
DESCRIPTION: 

McClure Engineering Company has submitted a site plan to the City for a light industrial 
site east of the Produce Innovations facility for the new location of K&R Wholesale, a 
current Norwalk business located on Hakes Drive. 
 
The developer and the City are currently in the middle of the site plan review process.  
The developer has requested the ability to begin site grading as soon as possible.  The City 
only allows site grading in conjunction with an approved development plan or in 
conjunction with an approved grading plan.  The developer has asked that the City 
approve the grading plan ahead of finalization of the site plan so that preliminary grading 
work can be completed starting at the beginning of August.  Staff has the site plan 
approval scheduled for August 7th Planning Commission review and August 17th City 
Council approval. 
 
Approval of the grading plan would allow the developer to start site grading on August 4th, 
following potential Council approval on August 3rd. 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS: The grading plan shows proposed grading for a warehouse/distribution facility, loading 
dock area, parking area, and on-site detention for storm water.  The grading is limited to 
the south half of the property where the first phase of the project is located.  The land to 
the north will be ungraded and is for potential future expansion of the business. 
 
The property is zoned IC Industrial Commerce and the proposed use is allowed in the 
district.  The grading plan appears to be adequate for the proposed building, parking and 
loading areas, and storm water detention.  The developer has submitted drainage 
calculations for the storm water detention area that were reviewed with no concerns. 
 
 



STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

The staff recommends approval of the grading plan to allow the developer to start 
preliminary grading with the following conditions: 
 

• That the site grading follows all City code regulations. 
• That all proper storm water controls are installed and in place during all grading 

operations. 
• That the site plan include the final grading plan for the project and that any 

changes to the final grading plan/site plan be incorporated into the site 
development. 

 

  



DRAFT RESOLUTION NO. ___ 
 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE GRADING PLAN FOR THE K&R WHOLESALE SITE ON 

COLONIAL PARKWAY 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission reviewed this request at their regular meeting 
on July 24, 2017 and recommends approval of the Grading Plat; and 
 
WHEREAS, K&R Wholesale and McClure Engineering have submitted a Site Plan for the 
development of a wholesale/distribution facility at the same location and have 
requested advanced approval of a grading plan to allow for preliminary site grading to 
commence; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City can authorize site grading outside of an approved development plan 
through the submittal, review, and approval of a grading plan per City Code Chapter 
145 Site Grading Regulations; and, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: That the City Council does hereby approve the 
Grading Plan for the K&R Wholesale Site as described and shown in Attachment “A” 
attached hereto and made a part thereof by reference. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED this 3rd day of August, 2017. 
 
       
      __________________________________ 
      Tom Phillips - Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
JODI EDDLEMAN, CITY CLERK 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE:    Aye  Nay 
    
Kuhl    ___  ___ 
Lester    ___  ___ 
Isley    ___  ___ 
Riva    ___  ___ 
Livingston   ___  ___ 
 



258 SF

CONFERENCE

139 SF

OFFICE

141 SF

OFFICE

139 SF

OFFICE

115 SF

WORK

49 SF

WOMEN

49 SF

MEN

86 SF

KITCHEN

877 SF

SHOWROOM

76 SF

VEST

182 SF

CORRIDOR

60 SF

CORRIDOR

90 SF

REC'V

111 SF

UTILITY
49 SF

UNI

14984 SF

WAREHOUSE

MATERIAL STORAGE

MATERIAL STORAGE

M
A

T
E

R
I
A

L
 
S

T
O

R
A

G
E

M
A

T
E

R
I
A

L
 
S

T
O

R
A

G
E

CO

CO

CO

CO

COLONIAL PARKWAY

9
2
0

9

3

0

920

924.05 TC

923.57 TC

924.74 TC

924.45 TC

926.00 TS

926.00 TS

922.33 TS

926.00 TS

925.99 TC

922.71 TC

921.97 TC

922.86 TC

921.28 TC

924.13 TC

924.34 TC

923.78 TC

924.69 TC

924.80 TC

924.90 TC

925.34 TC

925.45 TC

925.43 TC

9

2

5

.
5

1

 
T

C

9

2

5

.
6

0

 
T

S

925.78 TS

925.66 TC

925.52 TC

925.05 TC

923.78 TC

9

2

3

.
1

2

 
T

C

925.15 TC

919.93 TC

919.90 TC

917.28 TC

920.63 TC

925.80 TS

925.80 TS

925.30 FG

926.50 TC

9
1
6

9
2
4

9
1
8

925.23 TS
925.23 TS

925.50 TS

925.50 TS

925.60 TS

925.60 TS

F.F.E. = 926.00

922.00 TS

922.00 TS

921.67 TS

923.31 TS

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

15.00 PUE

50.00 DRAINAGE

EASEMENT

15.00 PUE

EXISTING

PUBLIC STORM

SEWER EASEMENT

PHASE 1 LIMITS

923.70 TC

9

2

4

9

2

0

9
2
2

9

2

2

9

2

4

9

2

4

9
2
6

9
2
8

9
2
4

9
2
2

9
2
0

TOP OF BERM = 921.00

DRAWING NO.

CHECKED BY

ENGINEER

SHEET NO.

FIELD BOOK NO.

DRAWN BY

REVISIONS

NOTICE:
McClure Engineering Company waives any and all

responsibility and liability for problems which arise from
failure to follow these Plans, Specifications, and the

engineering intent they convey, or for problems which arise
from failure to obtain and/or follow the engineers guidance

with respect to any errors, omissions, inconsistencies,
ambiguities, or conflicts which are alleged.

COPYRIGHT:
Copyright and property rights in these documents are

expressly reserved by McClure Engineering Company.  No
reproductions, changes, or copies in any manner shall be

made without obtaining prior written consent from McClure
Engineering Company.

1360 NW 121ST. Street
Clive, Iowa 50325

515-964-1229
fax 515-964-2370

building strong communities.

K & R WHOLESALE
NORWALK DISTRIBUTION

SITE PLAN
NORWALK, IA

NOR 20217013

JULY 5, 2017

C. SMITH A. MAURER

C. SMITH -

--
--
--
--

--

06

NORTH

10 200

GRAPHIC SCALE

40

04GR-01

GRADING PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
/



K&R
Site

BEARDSLEY ST

CEDAR ST

FO
NT

AN
A C

T

EC
HO

RID
GE

TR
L

BELLFLOWER LN

OAKCREEK DR

COLONIAL PKWY

SU
NS

ET
 D

R
SU

NS
ET

 D
R

MA
ST

EL
LE

R 
RD

CO
LO

NIA
L

PK
WY

TURNBERRY DR

COLONIAL PKWY

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AEX,
Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN, IGP, swisstopo, and the GIS User Community

K&R Wholesale Vicinity Map

Legend
WC_Parcels
City Limits
Norwalk Streets
Lakes
Rivers

¯ Print Date: 07/21/2017

0 0.150.075
Miles


	Planning Zoning Agenda 7-24-17
	PLANNING AND ZONING MEETING
	Norwalk City Hall, 705 North Ave

	07-10 MINUTES
	Agenda Statement_Bedwell Annexation
	Agenda Statement_Bedwell Annexation
	Bedwell Pre-Annexation Agreement - 07-18_17_city attorney review
	EXHIBIT "B"

	Resolution - Resolution authorizing execution of a pre-annexation agreement with Bedwell Gardens

	Windsor_FP
	Windsor_FP
	FP01_1170108
	WW_Vicinity

	Windsor_SP
	Windsor_SP
	Windsor_SP_doc_small
	16124A_2017-06-26_WW Norwalk, IA_Elev Rendering_small
	E - windsor windows - Sheet - S2 - Entire Area
	Sheets
	S1 - Paved Areas
	S2 - Entire Area



	K&R Grading
	K&R Grading
	Pages from 2017-07-05 K&R Plans - NOR 20217013
	KR_Vicinity




